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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the three months ended For the year ended YoY Fav/
(HK’m) 31-Mar-04 30-Jun-04 30-Sep-04 31-Dec-04 31-Dec-04 31-Dec-03 (unfav)

Turnover 86.3 113.6 124.3 115.4 439.6 375.6 17.0%
Cost of sales (76.0) (95.5) (98.1) (88.5) (358.1) (395.4) 9.4%
SG&A (21.7) (24.2) (26.7) (28.6) (101.2) (110.9) 8.7%

Adjusted EBITDA 13.7 22.6 27.2 21.1 84.6 (51.9)
Net profit/(loss) (7.1) 0.1 4.6 4.9 2.5 (143.8)

The Group achieved significant operational and financial improvements in 2004, recording its first profitable year
since its IPO in early 2002. Net profit was HK$2.5 million, which was a marked improvement over the net loss of
HK$143.8 million in 2003. Turnover continued to grow, from HK$375.6 million in 2003 to HK$439.6 million in
2004, an increase of 17.0 % year-on-year. Cost of sales decreased from HK$395.4 million in 2003 to HK$358.1
million in 2004, mainly due to reduction in concession fees. There was an 8.7% reduction in SG&A to HK$101.2
million, mainly because of tightened cost controls, particularly in staff cost and office rental. Adjusted EBITDA
continued to improve and turned positive in 2004, reaching HK$84.6 million in 2004.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Review

The Group operates two core business lines: bus advertising and metro system advertising. Advertising is carried
on approximately 16,855 buses in 15 cities in the PRC and 469 buses in Hong Kong (the contract in Hong Kong
expired on 31st October 2004 and was not renewed), plus the entire underground metro system in Beijing city
center and two metro lines in Shanghai, offering nationwide network services to renowned international and
domestic brands. There has also been an expansion into the street furniture advertising business in recent years.

For the year ended 31st December
2004 2003

Hong Kong The PRC Total Hong Kong The PRC Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover

Metro system advertising — 91,680 91,680 — 55,446 55,446
Bus advertising 74,295 263,292 337,587 87,566 228,197 315,763
Other operations including

street furniture — 10,334 10,334 318 4,041 4,359

Total turnover 74,295 365,306 439,601 87,884 287,684 375,568
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China

Bus Advertising

PRC bus represented 60.0% of the Group’s total turnover in 2004. It recorded HK$77.8 million in turnover in
the fourth quarter of 2004, a 37.9% increase over the HK$56.4 million achieved in the fourth quarter of 2003.
The operation recorded a net profit of HK$0.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, which was a significant
improvement over the net loss of HK$22.6 million for the corresponding period in 2003. For full year 2004, PRC
bus narrowed its loss to HK$7.7 million, which represented an improvement of 87.5% compared with 2003. This
improvement was mainly attributable to the better sales performance and the cost cutting measures implemented
by the management in 2003. In 2003, the Group renegotiated bus contracts in some key PRC cities and terminated
some unprofitable contracts relating to buses running on non-prime routes in the city or city outskirts, both
resulting in substantial reductions in media rental costs. The reduced fixed cost base enabled this operation to
achieve better financial results this year. The average occupancy rate of the PRC bus advertising space was 45.1%
in 2004.

Metro System Advertising

Shanghai Metro recorded strong growth and made up 20.9% of the Group’s total turnover in 2004. With sales of
HK$23.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, it achieved a growth of 47.8% compared with HK$15.7 million in
the same period in 2003. Shanghai Metro made a net profit of HK$4.3 million and HK$15.1 million in the fourth
quarter and full year of 2004, respectively, which marked a strong turnaround from the net loss of HK$0.9 million
and HK$11.5 million in the corresponding periods in 2003. The average occupancy rate of the operation was
51.6% in 2004 and the Group will continue to work on improving the occupancy rate.

The Group’s associated company, Beijing Metro, continued to deliver strong financial performance in 2004. The
turnover was HK$30.1 million and HK$128.7 million for the fourth quarter and full year of 2004, respectively,
which represented a growth of 7.5% and 26.5% over the corresponding periods in 2003. The Group’s “share of
net profit (after taxation)” of Beijing Metro was HK$5.7 million and HK$20.8 million for the fourth quarter and
full year of 2004, respectively, an improvement of 5.6% and 32.5% over the corresponding periods in 2003.

Street Furniture

The Shanghai Newspaper Kiosk project received the advertising license approvals from government authorities
in December 2003 for about 700 newspaper kiosks installed on the streets of Shanghai. Out of these 700 kiosks,
approximately 620 were installed with advertising panels and the remaining ones are in the process of being
relocated to better locations or being installed with additional advertising panels. The newspaper kiosks in
Shanghai recently gained nationwide attention as these kiosks started to sell government publications, such as
The People’s Daily, that were previously only available through subscription. The Group aims to install another
300 kiosks to complete the installation of the initial phase of 1,000 kiosks in the near term.

For the First Aid Advertising Display project, approximately 4,800 light boxes have so far been installed across
major cities, including Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. The focus is on universities and schools that are not
populated by other advertising media. The Group is aiming to enhance the school media network by installing
additional light boxes in 2005. In the past few months, the sales and marketing team has been pushing advertising
sales and the response from clients has been encouraging.

The above two projects incurred start-up losses of HK$0.8 million and HK$6.6 million for the fourth quarter
and full year of 2004, respectively. In the fourth quarter, they generated a combined turnover of HK$4.6 million.
The Group appreciates the growth opportunity and will continue to focus on these projects in the coming year.
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Hong Kong

Hong Kong bus represented 16.9% of the Group’s total turnover in 2004. The operation generated turnover of
HK$10.6 million and HK$74.3 million in the fourth quarter and full year of 2004.

The licence agreement with The Kowloon Motor Bus Company (1933) Limited expired on 31st October 2004.
After serious consideration, the Group decided not to renew the licence agreement for sound commercial
reasons. Since the operation was loss making, discontinuing this business would not have any negative financial
effect on the Group. As disclosed in the 2003 Annual Report, a provision for onerous contract was made in 2003
regarding this agreement. However, as the operating results of this unit were still below expectation, the Hong
Kong bus operation recorded a loss of approximately HK$8.1 million in 2004.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Further to achieving the turnaround of EBITDA since the third quarter of 2003, the Group has recorded the first
profitable year since its IPO in early 2002. There has been a strong momentum in advertising growth in the PRC,
as can be seen in advance bookings by customers for the early part of 2005, particularly in the two metro
operations in Shanghai and Beijing.

From a cash flow perspective, the fourth quarter was now the sixth consecutive quarter that the EBITDA
continued positive. The business should continue to generate positive operating cash flow in the near future and
this will further strengthen the financial position of the Group. When appropriate opportunities are identified,
the Group would cautiously consider further expansion of its existing out-of-home media network within and
outside of the traditional transit media. The Group recently signed a five-year sole sales agency contract with
CGEN, a Shanghai-based company specializing in in-store TV at mega stores outlets, which will likely significantly
boost our revenue base.

Given the improving global economy, business outlook for year 2005 is promising. The management is seeing
stronger demand for advertising media in the PRC. Sales contracts secured so far in the early part of 2005 have
been very encouraging. The Group anticipates a year of high growth in the outdoor advertising market in the
PRC in 2005.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Profitability

The Group recorded turnover of HK$439.6 million for the year ended 31st December 2004, which represented
a strong growth of 17.0% compared with HK$375.6 million for the previous year. Total turnover generated from
Hong Kong decreased from HK$87.9 million in 2003 to HK$74.3 million in 2004, a drop of 15.4% mainly due to
the expiry of the contract with KMB in October 2004. Total turnover generated from PRC increased by 27.0%
from HK$287.7 million in 2003 to HK$365.3 million in 2004. The increase was mainly due to the improvement
of performance for the metro and bus advertising businesses during the year. Despite the downsized bus media
portfolios in the PRC and Hong Kong, the Group was still able to achieve significant increase in turnover.

Total turnover for the year ended 31st December 2004 was generated from: (i) bus advertising of HK$337.6
million (76.8% of total turnover); (ii) metro system advertising of HK$91.7 million (20.9% of total turnover); and
(iii) other operations including street furniture of HK$10.3 million (2.3% of total turnover).
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Cost of sales for the year ended 31st December 2004 decreased by 9.4% to HK$358.1 million from HK$395.4
million in 2003. The decrease was mainly due to the reduction of concession fees resulting from (i) a downsized
bus media portfolio in the PRC; (ii) the realization of the onerous contract provision made in 2003; and (iii) the
expiry of the New World First Bus Services Limited (“NWFB”) bus body advertising agreement in Hong Kong in
July 2003 and the expiry of The Kowloon Motor Bus Company (1933) Limited (“KMB”) bus body advertising
agreement in Hong Kong in October 2004.

As a result of the above mentioned increase in turnover and reduction in cost of sales at the same time, the
Group recorded a gross profit of HK$81.5 million in 2004, which was a significant improvement over the HK$19.9
million gross loss for the previous year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended 31st December 2004 decreased by 8.7% from
HK$110.9 million in 2003 to HK$101.2 million in 2004. The decrease was mainly due to tightened cost controls,
particularly in staff cost and office rental.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year was negligible (2003: HK$1.6 million).

Share of Profit of An Associated Company

Share of profit of an associated company before taxation coming from Beijing Metro increased from HK$23.3
million in 2003 to HK$31.0 million in 2004. Beijing Metro demonstrated continuing improvement and achieved
higher profit in 2004.

Taxation

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profit in
Hong Kong for the year (2003: Nil). The joint ventures established in the PRC in which the Group has invested
are generally subject to enterprise income tax (“EIT”) on their taxable income at a combined national and local
tax rate of 33% (2003: 33%). The Group’s taxation consists primarily of HK$10.2 million EIT levied on profit from
an associated company where the EIT rate is 33%.

Minority Interests

Minority interests in the Group’s results were HK$1.9 million in 2004 (2003: HK$0.1 million).

Pursuant to general accounting practice, where a subsidiary reports losses, the minority interest presented in the
consolidated profit and loss account should reflect an appropriate share of those losses. However, if the recognition
of the minority share of such losses results in a debit balance for the minority interest in the consolidated
balance sheet, such debit balance should be recognised only if there is a binding obligation on the minority
shareholders to make good losses incurred which they are able to meet. During the year, the excess of the losses
attributable to the minority of the subsidiaries in Beijing and the printing group, namely Beijing Top Result and
Digital Photo group over the minority interest in the equity of the Beijing Top Result and Digital Photo group was
charged against the Group, amounting to HK$1.3 million and HK$1.8 million, respectively.
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Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders

As a result of the above, the Group recorded a net profit for the year ended 31st December 2004 of HK$2.5
million (2003: a net loss of HK$143.8 million).

Adjusted Earning Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (Adjusted EBITDA)

Adjusted EBITDA represents gain/(loss) from operations excluding (i) depreciation of fixed assets; (ii) amortisation
of intangible assets; (iii) interest income and expense; (iv) tax but including the Group’s proportional share of
EBITDA (with the same definition) from its associated company. The Group uses adjusted EBITDA to measure its
performance:-

For the year ended For the year ended
31st December 2004 31st December 2003

HK$ million HK$ million

Adjusted EBITDA 84.6 (51.9)

Financial Resources, Security and Liquidity

The Group had net assets of HK$440.9 million as at 31st December 2004 (2003: HK$438.3 million), including
cash and bank balances of HK$92.3 million (2003: HK$55.3 million).

The Group had no material outstanding borrowing as at 31st December 2004.

The gearing ratio, defined as the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, was 30.7% as at 31st December 2004,
comparable to 30.0% as at 31st December 2003.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31st December 2004, the Group did not have any pledged assets.

Assets

The total assets of the Group increased by 1.1% from HK$631.5 million in 2003 to HK$638.5 million in 2004.
The majority of the non-current assets are intangible assets of advertising license rights.

Material Investments/Acquisitions/Disposals

The Group made no material acquisition or disposal during the year. As at 31st December 2004, the Group had
no future plans for material investments or capital assets.

Employees

As at 31st December 2004, the Group had 551 (2003: 507) employees. Total employee remuneration, including
that of the directors, for the year ended 31st December 2004 amounted to HK$54.9 million (2003: HK$57.2
million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practice. The remuneration of directors is from time to time determined by the board of directors of the
Company by reference to their duties and responsibilities. In addition, the Group also has a medical scheme and
a share option scheme for directors and employees.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Treasury Policies

All transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States dollars. As the
exchange rates of these currencies were stable during the year, no hedging or other alternatives had been
implemented. The Group considers that the only potential currency exposure is in Renminbi as the majority of
the Group’s revenue is derived inside the PRC and is denominated in Renminbi. Currently, the market does not
anticipate any material devaluation pressure on Renminbi in the near future and therefore the management
believes the Group has no significant currency exposure.

It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage its foreign currency exposure whenever its financial impact is material
to the Group. The Group does not engage in foreign currency speculative activities.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December 2004, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.
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Set out below is a comparison between the Group’s actual business progress to date and its business objectives
as set out in the prospectus dated 14th January 2002.

Business objectives as stated in the listing
prospectus:

Maintain and strengthen market leadership
position

Actual business progress to date:

Expand the bus-advertising network in China by
acquiring additional concessions in new cities or our
existing cities.

In June 2002, the Group entered into a new bus
advertising concession contract in respect of about
2,800 buses under exclusive agency arrangement in
Qingdao.

Install additional advertising displays in metro advertising
systems in the Shanghai metro.

The Group has largely completed the media assets
development of Shanghai Metro Line 2 and the media
assets development in the platforms and ticketing halls
of Shanghai Metro Line 3.

Invest in new digital printing machine. In view of the changing circumstances, the project was
shelved. The Group may reassess the feasibility of such
investment in the future using cash flow generated from
operation.

Develop and implement proprietary Enterprise
Resource Planning software (“ERP”), named Media
Inventory Management System (“MIMS”) to enhance
ability to accumulate and analyze data relating to the
business.

Instead of engaging external vendors, the Group used
in-house resources to develop the software and has
largely completed the programming. Trial runs have been
implemented on different media assets.

Introduce new media formats

Roll out the street furniture project - newspaper kiosks
in the PRC.

The Group has installed approximately 700 newspaper
kiosks, of which approximately 620 are equipped with
advertising display panels. The Group aim to install
another 300 kiosks to complete the installation of the
initial phase of 1,000 kiosks in the near term.  As for
the implementation of an additional 1,000 kiosks in the
second stage of the project, the Group will reassess
the expansion plan based on whether the first phase of
the project is successful and proposes to finance such
expansion plan, if any, using cash flow generated from
the first phase of the project and internally generated
cash flow of the Group.
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Business objectives as stated in the listing
prospectus:

Actual business progress to date:

Upgrade and begin marketing New World First Bus
Services Limited’s (NWFB) bus shelters.

The bus shelter business with NWFB was terminated
in July 2004 due to commercial reasons.

In view of the changing circumstances, the project was
shelved. The Group may reassess the feasibility of such
investment in the future using cash flow generated from
operation.

Begin development of new mobile broadcasting display
units such as LEDs and LCDs in existing bus and metro
media portfolio in the PRC.

As announced in the announcement dated 10th
February 2003, the Group decided to discontinue this
operation.

Provide integrated outdoor advertising

Further develop and improve the outdoor services
media database for i-Result.

The Group has no current plan to use the IPO proceeds
in pursuing this objective but will consider using cash
flow generated by operation or using other funding
alternatives to finance acquisition if the Group can
identify suitable acquisition targets.

Selectively pursue acquisitions

Selectively pursue acquisitions of high quality assets and
outdoor advertising related businesses.

Install and market first aid light boxes in shopping malls
in the PRC.

The Group has installed approximately 4,800 advertising
light boxes across China. The design of the first aid light
boxes has been modified so that the appearance is more
appealing and less bulky. The Group decided to focus
on outlets such as schools that are not populated by
other advertising media, and is major cities of Beijing,
Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen.
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GEM LISTING

The net listing proceeds raised from the listing of the Group on the GEM on 24th January 2002 was approximately
HK$394.0 million. The net proceeds have been applied to implement various objectives as set out in the prospectus
dated 14th January 2002, the supplemental prospectus dated 22nd January 2002 (collectively the “Prospectus”)
as follows:

Actual amount
As stated in the used up to 31st Further amount

Prospectus December 2004 to be used

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Development of printing and Media
Inventory Management System 7.0 — —

Expansion of street furniture business:

newspaper kiosks 120.0 70.5 3.2

other new media formats, including “in-mall” advertising
displays, such as first aid light boxes as well as other
multimedia displays for bus and metro advertising 100.0 26.0 —

Expansion of the i-Result database 5.0 1.4 —

Repayment of certain existing debts to Gavast Estates 120.0 117.0 —

Repayment of certain existing debts from Everpower
and E2-Capital 39.0 39.8 —

Working Capital and operating losses 3.0 136.1 —

394.0 390.8 3.2

As previously disclosed, a substantial portion of the listing proceeds has been used to finance the Group’s
operating losses and in this connection, this deviates from the original plan stated in the listing prospectus. As set
out above, the Group intends to use the remaining listing proceeds of HK$3.2 million for the expansion of its
street furniture business.
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OPEN OFFER

The net proceeds raised from the Open Offer in August 2003 were HK$116.0 million. The net proceeds have
been applied to implement various objectives as set out in the prospectus dated 10th July 2003 as follows:

As stated in the
prospectus for

the Open Offer Actual amount
dated 10th July used up to 31st Further amount

2003 December 2004 to be used

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Repayment of certain existing debts
from independent third parties
including overdue media rental fees 50.3 36.2 14.1

Repayment of outstanding investment
commitments for investment
buses in China acquired during 2001 5.7 5.7 —

Repayment of shareholders’ loan
advanced by SMI and Warburg 60.0 60.0 —

116.0 101.9 14.1

The remaining net proceeds from the Open Offer as at 31st December 2004 was approximately HK$14.1
million.
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The directors present their report together with the audited accounts of MediaNation Inc. (hereinafter as the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter as the “Group”) for the year ended
31st December 2004.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are shown as Note 15
to the accounts.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by geographical and business segment is set out in Note 2
to the accounts.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2004 are set out in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December 2004.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in intangible assets of the Group during the year ended 31st December 2004 are set out
in Note 11 to the accounts.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets of the Group during the year ended 31st December 2004 are set out in
Note 12 to the accounts.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31st December 2004 are set
out in Note 22 to the accounts.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year ended 31st December
2004 are set out in Note 24 to the accounts.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium
account and the capital reserve of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31st December 2004, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had no reserves available for distribution
to its shareholders.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

Particulars of retirement benefit obligation of the Group are set out in Note 29 to the accounts.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Details of the Group’s transactions with its major customers and suppliers during the year ended 31st December
2004 are set out below:

Customers

For the year ended 31st December 2004, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers represented less than 30% of the Group’s total turnover. The largest customer represented
2.0% (2003: 2.3%) of the Group’s total turnover.

The Group has over 1,300 customers spreading over a diverse range of industries such as food and beverage,
pharmaceutical, telecoms and consumer products.  At no time during the year ended 31st December 2004 have
the directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company which to the knowledge of the directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had a beneficial interest in these major customers.

Suppliers

Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not rely on a large number of suppliers. The directors of the
Company consider bus and metro operators to be its long term business partners and have therefore not
included them as suppliers. The suppliers the Group uses primarily perform printing, posting, deposting, painting
and cleaning services.

The largest supplier for the year ended 31st December 2004 represented 8.9% (2003: 7.9%) of the Group’s total
production expenses (not including purchases of a capital nature), and the combined total of the five largest
suppliers accounted for 36.6% (2003: 28.0%) of the Group’s total expenses for the year. At no time during the
year ended 31st December 2004 have the directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company which
to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had a beneficial
interest in these major suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who held office during the year ended 31st December 2004 and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director:

Mr. Chu Chung Hong, Francis

Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Sun Qiang, Chang (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff
Ms. Ho Ming Yee
Mr. Cheng Cheung Lun, Julian
Ms. Chan Man Ki, Summerine (Resigned on 16th August 2004)
Mr. Kam Wai Sum (former name as Mr. Kam Ling) (Resigned on 25th January 2004)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Barry John Buttifant
Mr. Johannes Schöter
Mr. Duck Young Song (Appointed on 8th September 2004)
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DIRECTORS - continued

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the directors of the
Company, including the non-executive directors, will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The independent non-executive directors were not
appointed for specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Executive director

Mr. Chu Chung Hong, Francis entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of two years
commencing from 2nd December 2002, and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party not less
than six months’ written notice or payment of salary in lieu thereof to the other party, such notice to expire no
earlier than 30th November 2004.

Non-executive directors

Mr. Kam Wai Sum entered into a consultancy agreement with the Company commencing from 2nd December
2002 and expiring on 30th June 2004. On 25th January 2004, the consultancy agreement with Mr Kam Wai Sum
was terminated following his resignation on that date.

Ms. Chan Man Ki, Summerine entered into a consultancy agreement with the Company commencing from 2nd
December 2002. The agreement was renewed on 6th August 2004 and will expire on 30th June 2007. On 16th
August 2004, Ms. Chan Man Ki, Summerine resigned from the directorship but remained as a consultant to the
Company.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed his independence to the Company pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (“the GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has entered or has proposed to enter into any service agreements with any member of the
Group (excluding contracts expiring or determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out in the
section – Directors and Senior Management of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31st December 2004, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 under the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealing by directors pursuant to Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules (other than options which have been granted under any Pre-IPO share options
plans and Post-IPO share option scheme of the Company to certain Directors, details of such options are set out
in the paragraphs headed “Pre-IPO Share Options Plans” and “Post-IPO Share Options Scheme” below), were as
follows:

Approximate
Number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company held and nature of interests percentage

Name of Director/ Personal Family Corporate Other of the total number
chief executive Interests Interests interests interests Capacity Total  of shares in issue

Mr. Chu Chung Hong, 8,138,000 — — — Beneficial Owner 8,138,000 0.45%
Francis

Mr. Barry John Buttifant 5,000,000 — — — Beneficial Owner 5,000,000 0.28%
Mr. Johannes Schöter 10,152,000 — — — Beneficial Owner 10,152,000 0.56%

23,290,000 — — — 23,290,000

Other than as disclosed above and in the paragraphs headed “Pre-IPO Share Options Plans” and “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” below, as at 31st December 2004, none of the Directors, chief executive or their associates had
any personal, family, corporate or other interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations and none of the Directors, chief executive or any of their
respective spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right, and the Company had not made any
arrangement enabling any of them to subscribe for any shares or debentures of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN THE COMPANY

Pre-IPO Share Options Plans

Prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM, the board was authorized, at its absolute discretion, to grant
options (the “Pre-IPO Share Options”) to certain directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for ordinary
shares in the Company under the terms of several share option plans (the “Pre-IPO Share Options Plans”).

Under the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Options Plans, details of the Pre-IPO Share Options granted to and held
by the Directors as at 31st December 2004 were as follows:

Outstanding
Outstanding Exercised Cancelled/ as at

Exercise price as at 1st January Granted during during Lapsed during 31st December
Name of Director Date of offer Exercisable period US$(3) 2004(3) the year the year the year  2004(3)

Ms. Chan Man Ki, 1st July 1997 1st July 1998 to 0.038095 2,712,500 — — — 2,712,500
Summerine (resigned 30th June 2007(1)

on 16th August 2004) 1st April 2000 1st April 2001 to 0.038095 2,275,000 — — — 2,275,000
31st March 2010(1)

1st April 2000 1st April 2001 to 0.171429 2,835,000 — — — 2,835,000
31st March 2010(1)

1st September 2000 1st September 2001 to 0.038095 1,715,000 — — — 1,715,000
31st August 2010(1)

5th May 2001 5th May 2002 to 0.171429 2,450,000 — — — 2,450,000
4th May 2011(1)

9th June 2001 9th June 2001 to 0.206841 19,036,535 — — — 19,036,535
8th June 2011(2)

Mr. Kam Wai Sum 1st July 1997 1st July 1998 to 0.038095 1,750,000 — — 1,750,000 —
(former name as 30th June 2007(1)

Mr. Kam Ling) 1st April 2000 1st April 2001 to 0.038095 1,750,000 — — 1,750,000 —
(resigned on 31st March 2010(1)

25th January 2004) 1st September 2000 1st September 2001 to 0.038095 1,925,000 — — 1,925,000 —
31st August 2010(1)

5th May 2001 5th May 2002 to 0.171429 6,125,000 — — 6,125,000 —
4th May 2011(1)

(1) Each of these Pre-IPO Options shall vest in respect of one-third of the total number of shares to which it relates upon
each anniversary of the respective date upon which the offer of the option is accepted until fully vested and expiring
on the tenth anniversary from the date of offer.

(2) These Pre-IPO Options were fully vested upon its grant and may be exercised at any time during the period commencing
on the respective date upon which the offer of the option is accepted and expiring on the tenth anniversary from the
date of offer.

(3) Adjustments on the relevant Pre-IPO Share Options Plans are to be made in accordance with the terms of the Pre-
IPO Share Options Plans as a result of the Open Offer stated in the Company’s prospectus dated 10th July 2003.

During the year ended 31st December 2004, a total number of 11,550,000(3) options under the Pre-IPO Shares
Options Plans had lapsed. No options were granted nor exercised during the year.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31st December 2004, no Pre-IPO Share Options were granted or
agreed to be granted by the Company and no further options will be offered or granted by the Company under
any of the Pre-IPO Share Options Plans to any Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN THE COMPANY - continued

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 8th January 2002, the Company conditionally adopted a further share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for a period of ten years from the date on which the Share Option Scheme was adopted. The Share
Option Scheme became unconditional upon the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM on 24th January 2002.

The principal purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the significant contributions of the full-time
employees, executive directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors), any
consultants or advisors of or to any member of the Group to the growth of the Group by rewarding them with
opportunities to obtain ownership interests in the Company and to further motivate and give incentives to these
persons to continue to contribute to the Group’s long term success.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and under any other share option scheme of the Company shall initially not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company excluding, for this purpose, shares issued on the exercise of options under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company. Upon the grant of options for shares up to
10% of the issued share capital of the Company and subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meetings, the maximum number of shares to be issued under the Share Option Scheme when aggregate
with shares to be issued under any other share option scheme of the Group, may be increased by the board of
directors provided that the shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options does not exceed
30% of the issued share capital from time to time.

No option may be granted to any one person such that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of options granted and to be granted to such person in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant exceeds 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The subscription price under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Company’s board of directors
and will be the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares, (ii) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the options. An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by an
eligible participant (as defined in the Share Option Scheme) and to have taken effect when the duplicate of offer
letter as described in the Share Option Scheme, comprising acceptance of the option is signed and returned by
the grantee with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant.

The Share Option Scheme shall vest in respect of one third of the total number of shares to which it relates upon
each anniversary of the respective date upon which the offer of the option is made until fully vested and expiring
on not less than three years nor more than ten years from the date of offer.

The Company granted options on 10th July 2002 to 5 senior management staffs and 24 employees to purchase
5,000,000(1) ordinary shares of the Company under Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of HK$0.89(1) per
share. These options are exercisable in the period from 10th July 2003 to 9th July 2012.

The Company granted options on 13th  August 2003 to 3 senior management staffs and 14 employees to
purchase 17,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company under Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of
HK$0.119 per share. These options are exercisable in the period from 13th August 2004 to 12th August 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES IN THE COMPANY - continued

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme - continued

The Company granted options on 25th May 2004 to 3 directors and 2 senior management staffs to purchase
10,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company under Share Option Scheme at the exercise price of HK$0.115 per
share. These options are exercisable in the period from 25th May 2005 to 24th May 2014. The closing price of the
shares immediately before the date on which the options were granted is HK$0.115.

During the year, a director who held 5,425,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan at
exercise price of US$0.038095(1) and the 6,125,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan
at exercise price of US$0.171429(1) had resigned and hence, these options had lapsed. One employee holding
210,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan at exercise price of US$0.171429(1) had
resigned and hence, these options had lapsed. Seven employees holding 3,344,000(1) unvested share options
under Post-IPO Share Option Scheme had resigned and hence, these options had lapsed. No options were
exercised during the year.

(1) Adjustments on the relevant Pre-IPO Share Options Plans and Share Option Scheme are to be made in accordance
with the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Options Plans and Share Option Scheme as a result of the Open Offer stated in
the Company’s prospectus dated 10th July 2003.

Details of the movements in share options under the Pre-IPO Share Options Plans and Share Option Scheme of
the Company are set out in Note 23 to the accounts.

Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme, details of the options granted to and held by the Directors as at
31st December 2004 were as follows:

Outstanding
as Granted Exercised Cancelled/ Outstanding as at

Exercise price at 1st January during the during the Lapsed during 31st December
Name of Director Date of offer* Exercisable period HK$ 2004 year year the year 2004

Mr. Chu Chung Hong, 13th August 2003 13th August 2004 to 0.119 3,000,000 — — — 3,000,000
Francis 12th August 2013

25th May 2004 25th May 2005 to 24th May 2014 0.115 — 4,000,000 — — 4,000,000
Mr. Barry John Buttifant 25th May 2004 25th May 2005 to 24th May 2014 0.115 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Mr. Johannes Schöter 25th May 2004 25th May 2005 to 24th May 2014 0.115 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000

* The options shall vest in respect of one third of the total number of share upon each anniversary of the date of offer
until fully vested.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31st December 2004 was the Company or its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, or
debt security of the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors, their spouses or their
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for any shares or debentures of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year ended 31st December 2004.

The Directors consider it is inappropriate to value the options granted as a number of factors, such as the timing
of exercise of options, which is crucial for the valuation, cannot be determined. Also given the trading volume of
the shares of the Company since its listing on GEM, it is not appropriate to come up with a meaningful expected
volatility for the calculation of the option value. Accordingly, any valuation of the options based on various
speculative assumptions would not be meaningful and would also be misleading to the shareholders.
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REQUIRED STANDARD OF SECURITIES DEALINGS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct for directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry with all the directors, the directors of the Company had complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct for directors’ securities transactions during the year ended 31st December
2004.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS HAVING INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31st December 2004, the following
substantial shareholders of the Company (within the meaning of the GEM Listing Rules) had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register to be kept under section
336 of the SFO (other than those interests of Directors disclosed above):

Approximate
Number of shares percentage

of HK$0.10 each in of the total number
Name of shareholder the Company held Capacity   of shares in issue

SMI Investors (PAPE II) Limited (“PAMA”) 718,428,083 Beneficial Owner 39.8 %
Warburg Pincus Ventures, L.P.,

(“Warburg Pincus”) 718,428,083 Beneficial Owner 39.8 %

Save as disclosed above, and as far as the Directors are aware, as at 31st December 2004, no other substantial
shareholders had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are
recorded in the register of the Company to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

OTHER PERSONS HAVING INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31st December 2004, no other
persons (other than those interests of Directors and substantial shareholders disclosed above and interests of
persons as recorded in the register to be kept under section 336 of the SFO pursuant to Division 5 of Part XV
of the SFO) had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are
recorded in the register of the Company to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

SPONSOR’S INTEREST

As updated and notified by the Company’s sponsor, Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch (the “Sponsor”), one
employee of the Sponsor held 8,000 shares in the capital of the Company as at 31st December 2004.  Apart
from this interest, neither the Sponsor nor its directors or employees or associates (as referred to in Note 3 to
Rule 6.35 of the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in the share capital of the Company as at 31st December
2004.

Pursuant to an agreement dated 23rd January 2002 entered into between the Company and the Sponsor, the
Sponsor will receive a fee for acting as the Company’s retained sponsor for the period from 4th January 2002
until 31st December 2004.  Such agreement expired on 31st December 2004 and has not been renewed by the
parties.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

PAMA Group Inc. (“PAMA Group”) is the general partner in PAMA I and PAMA II, which are two private equity
funds managed by the PAMA Group. PAMA II owns PAMA. PAMA I has investments in various businesses including
Texon International Limited (“Texon”). Texon is a competitor of the Group in the Hong Kong bus shelter market.
PAMA I has two nominees appointed to the board of Texon, one of whom is Mr. Andersen, Dee Allen who was
formerly a non-executive director of the Company. On 2nd September 2002, Mr. Andersen, Dee Allen resigned as
a non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of the Company. PAMA Group is a wholly owned
subsidiary of PAMA Investment Holdings Limited (“PIHL”). Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff, a non-executive director
of the Company, is a shareholder of PIHL and has an indirect interest of less than 0.5% in the share capital of
Texon.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2004, none of the Directors or the management shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates had any interest in any business that directly or indirectly competes
with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in note 28 to the accounts, no contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any of the
Company’s directors or members of its management had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the year ended 31st December 2004.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Committee”) on 10th September 2001 and formulated its
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control procedures of
the Group. The Committee comprised a non-executive Director, Ms. Ho Ming Yee and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Johannes Schöter (the Chairman of the Committee) and Mr. Barry John Buttifant.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2004, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31st December 2004, the Company has complied
with the “Board Practices and Procedures” as set out in Rules 5.34 to 5.45 of the GEM Listing Rules, which
applied before the amendment of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
and Rules on Corporate Governance Report on 1st January 2005. The Company will comply with such requests
in subsequent financial reports in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association or the Companies Law
(2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands or any applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers is the auditor of the Company since 2002 following the resignation of Arthur Andersen
& Co in July 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By the order of the board

Sun Qiang, Chang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st March 2005
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MEDIANATION INC.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the accounts of MediaNation Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the
Company, collectively referred to as the “Group”) on pages 46 to 84 which have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view. In preparing
accounts which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those accounts and to report our
opinion solely to you as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the circumstances of the Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the accounts
are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31st December 2004 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21st March 2005
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For the year ended 31st December 2004

Note 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 2 439,601 375,568

Cost of sales 28 (358,148) (395,430)

Gross profit/(loss) 81,453 (19,862)

Other revenues 2 395 603

Selling, general and administrative expenses (101,200) (110,934)

Provision for onerous contract — (13,760)

Impairment of assets 3 (795) (14,065)

Operating loss 3 (20,147) (158,018)

Finance costs 4 (29) (1,568)

Share of profit of an associated company 16 31,005 23,264

Profit/(loss) before taxation 10,829 (136,322)

Taxation
-The Company and subsidiaries (4) (34)
-An associated company (10,202) (7,565)

5 (10,206) (7,599)

Profit/(loss) after taxation 623 (143,921)

Minority interests 1,903 146

Net profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders 2,526 (143,775)

Dividend 7 — —

Profit/(loss) per share (HK cents)
-Basic 8 0.14 (13.25)
-Diluted 8 N/A N/A
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As at 31st December 2004

Note(s) 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 263,939 236,899
Fixed assets 12 74,841 76,806
Investment deposit placed with a joint venture partner 13 14,145 14,145
Long-term deposits — 35,000
Deposits for intangible assets — 76,998
Deposits for fixed assets 14 5,792 13,544
Investment in an associated company 16 49,537 42,559
Other non-current assets 275 764

408,529 496,715

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 74,638 18,077
Inventories 1,672 4,732
Income tax recoverable — 20
Trade receivables 18 61,422 56,462
Pledged bank deposits — 241
Bank balances and cash 19,26(c) 92,281 55,281

230,013 134,813

Current liabilities
Trade payables 20 55,269 63,685
Provisions, accrued liabilities and other payables 21 36,034 48,344
Deferred income 61,028 43,352
Amount due to an associated company 16 42,512 27,125
Amount due to a joint venture partner — 406
Amounts due to related companies 28 1,169 1,091
Obligations under finance leases 25 —
Taxation payable — 32

196,037 184,035

Net current assets/(liabilities) 33,976 (49,222)

Total assets less current liabilities 442,505 447,493
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As at 31st December 2004

Note(s) 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000
Financed by:

Capital and reserves
Share capital 22 180,349 180,349
Reserves 24 260,515 257,998

440,864 438,347

Minority interests 1,547 3,450

Non-current liabilities
Obligations under finance leases 94 —
Long-term payables — 5,696

94 5,696

442,505 447,493

Sun Qiang, Chang Chu Chung Hong, Francis
Director Director
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As at 31st December 2004

Note 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 15 432,155 421,334

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 613 317
Bank balances and cash 644 18,731

1,257 19,048

Current liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2,893 2,035

Net current (liabilities)/assets (1,636) 17,013

Total assets less current liabilities 430,519 438,347

Financed by:
Capital and reserves

Share capital 22 180,349 180,349
Reserves 24 250,170 257,998

430,519 438,347

Sun Qiang, Chang Chu Chung Hong, Francis
Director Director
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For the year ended 31st December 2004

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total equity as at 1st January 438,347 465,367

Issue of ordinary shares upon the Open Offer in August 2003 — 120,233

Share issuing expenses — (3,703)

Net gains not recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account
-Exchange difference arising from the translation

of accounts of foreign subsidiaries (9) 225

Net profit/(loss) for the year 2,526 (143,775)

Total equity as at 31st December 440,864 438,347
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For the year ended 31st December 2004

Note 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations 26(a) 39,781 (76,816)
Interest paid (29) (1,568)
Overseas taxation paid (16) (70)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 39,736 (78,454)

Investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (3,074) (6,971)
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 47 341
Payments for acquisition of intangible assets (11,822) (16,120)
Payment for deposits for fixed assets — (1,139)
Payment for deposits for intangible assets — (2,487)
Dividend received from an associated company 13,825 12,919

Net cash used in investing activities (1,024) (13,457)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing 38,712 (91,911)

Financing activities
New loans repayable within one year — 68,000
Repayment of loans repayable within one year — (68,000)
Issue of new shares upon the Open Offer in August 2003 — 120,233
Share issuing expenses — (3,703)
Repayment of principal portion of obligations under finance lease (4) —

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing (4) 116,530

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 38,708 24,619

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 53,582 28,739

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes (9) 224

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December 26(c) 92,281 53,582
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these accounts are set out below:

(a) Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and comply with accounting standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“new HKFRSs”) which are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1st January 2005. The Group has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the accounts for
the year ended 31st December 2004. The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact
of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new HKFRSs would have a
significant impact on its results of operations and financial position.

(b) Group accounting

(i) Consolidation

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31st December.

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Company, directly or indirectly, controls more than
one half of the voting power; has the power to govern the financial and operating policies; to
appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors; or to cast majority of
votes at the meetings of the board of directors.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
profit and loss account from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders in the operating results and
net assets of subsidiaries.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  - continued

(b) Group accounting  - continued

(ii) Joint ventures

The Group’s investment in joint ventures in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are in the
form of Sino-foreign equity joint ventures. In respect of the Sino-foreign cooperative joint ventures,
the partners’ profit-sharing ratios and share of net assets upon the expiration of the joint venture
periods may not be in proportion to their equity ratio, but are as defined in the respective joint
venture contracts.

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties undertake an
economic activity which is subject to joint control and none of the participating parties has
unilateral control over the economic activity. Where the Group’s investment is made by means of
joint venture structure, such investment is accounted for as a subsidiary when the Group can
control the board of directors or is in a position to exercise control over the financial and
operating policies of the joint venture.

(iii) Associated companies

An associated company is a company, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which an equity
interest is held for the long-term and significant influence is exercised in its management.

The consolidated profit and loss account includes the Group’s share of the results of the associated
company for the year, and the consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associated company and goodwill (net of accumulated amortisation) on acquisition.

Equity accounting is discontinued when the carrying amount of the investment in an associated
company reaches zero, unless the Group has incurred obligations or guaranteed obligations in
respect of the associated company.

(iv) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transactions
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date
are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising
in these cases are dealt with in the profit and loss account.

The balance sheets of subsidiaries and associated company expressed in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date whilst the profit and loss
accounts are translated using the average rate during the year. Exchange differences are dealt
with as a movement in reserves.

(v) Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

(c) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary/joint venture/associated company at the date of
acquisition.  With respect to investment in the associated company accounted for under the
equity method of accounting, goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in the intangible assets. Goodwill is amortised
using the straight-line method over the shorter of 20 years or the tenure of the investments.

(ii) Advertising license rights

Advertising license rights represent license fees paid for the acquisition of exclusive rights of
advertising on certain buses and newspaper kiosks in the PRC. These fees are capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over their respective license periods that do not exceed
20 years. Amortisation of license rights commences when the rights are available for use.

(iii) Computer software

Purchased computer software is capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method over
its estimated useful life of 5 years.

(iv) Impairment of intangible assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of any intangible asset is assessed
and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

(d) Fixed assets

(i) Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress is an investment in advertising display panels which are not ready for
use at the balance sheet date and management intends to hold for operating purposes.
Construction-in-progress is carried at cost that includes development and construction
expenditure incurred and other direct costs attributable to the development less accumulated
impairment losses. On completion, the construction-in-progress is transferred to other fixed
assets at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated
until such time as the assets are completed and ready for their intended use.

(ii) Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets, comprising leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment,
production equipment, motor vehicles and advertising display panels are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  - continued

(d) Fixed assets - continued

(iii) Depreciation

Fixed assets other than construction-in-progress are depreciated at rates sufficient to write off
their cost less accumulated impairment losses over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis and, in the case of fixed assets under Beijing Top Result Public Transportation Advertising
Co., Ltd., Shanghai Metro Top Result Advertising Co., Ltd. and Top Result Kiosk (Shanghai)
Development Co., Ltd, all being subsidiaries established in the PRC, after taking into account an
estimated residual value of 10% of the costs of the fixed assets. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% – 33.33%
Production equipment 33.33%
Motor vehicles 20%
Advertising display panels 10%

Major costs incurred in restoring the fixed assets to its normal working condition to allow
continued use of the overall asset are capitalised and depreciated over the expected useful lives.
Improvements are capitalised and depreciated over their expected useful lives to the Group.

(iv) Impairment and gain or loss on disposal

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external sources of information are considered to
assess whether there is any indication that assets included in fixed assets are impaired. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where relevant, an
impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount. Such impairment
losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

The gain or loss on disposal of a fixed asset is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the profit and loss account.

(e) Assets under leases

(i) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets
are accounted for as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at
the lower of the fair value of the leased assets or the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the capital and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the capital balances outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in long-term liabilities. The finance charges are charged to the
profit and loss account over the lease periods.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or
the lease periods.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

(e) Assets under leases  - continued

(ii) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the
leasing company are accounted for as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the leasing company are charged to the profit and loss
account on a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

(f) Inventories

Inventories comprise of printing materials and are stated at cost. Cost is calculated on the first-in, first-
out basis.

(g) Accounts receivable

Provision is made against accounts receivable to the extent they are considered to be doubtful. Accounts
receivable in the balance sheet are stated net of such provision.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purposes of the cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, cash
investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of investment and bank overdrafts.

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

(i) Onerous Contract

The Group recognises a provision for onerous contract when the expected benefits to be derived
from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract.

(j) Employee benefit

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long-service
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  - continued

(j) Employee benefit  - continued

(ii) Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans due wholly within twelve months after balance sheet date are recognised
where the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

(iii) Pension obligations

The Group participates in a number of defined contribution plans in the PRC and Hong Kong, the
assets of which are generally held in separate trustee administered funds. The pension plans are
generally funded by payments from employees and by the relevant Group companies based on a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans
are expensed as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who
leave the plan prior to the full vesting of their contributions.

(k) Deferred taxation

Deferred income taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the accounts.
Taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used to determine
deferred taxation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associate and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

(l) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the accounts. When a change in
the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the accounts when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  - continued

(m) Revenue recognition

(i) Media rental

Media rental income from the provision of outdoor media advertising services is recognised on
a time apportionment basis throughout the contract periods. The unearned portion of media
rental attributable to future accounting periods is accounted for as deferred income.

(ii) Production income

Production income from the provision of advertising production services, which generally is of
short duration, is recognised when the contracts are completed and the services are rendered.

(iii) Agency commission income

Agency commission income, which is generated from the provision of service in assisting customers
in buying advertising spaces, is recognised when the services are rendered.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amounts
outstanding and the interest rates applicable.

(n) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which they are incurred.

(o) Segment reporting

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the Group has determined that geographical
segments be presented as the primary reporting format and business segments as the secondary
reporting format.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the country in which the customers
are located. Total assets and capital expenditure are based on where the assets are located.

Segment assets consist primarily of intangible assets, fixed assets, inventories, receivables and operating
cash. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. Capital expenditure comprises additions to
intangible assets and fixed assets. Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Unallocated assets
represent corporate assets.

Inter-segment transactions: segment revenue, segment expenses and segment performance include
transfer between geographical segments and business segments. Such transfers are accounted for at
competitive market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar services. Those transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.
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2 TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of outdoor advertising media services in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Revenues recognised during the year are as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
Media rental 343,832 287,224
Production income 87,072 83,059
Agency commission income 8,697 5,285

439,601 375,568

Other revenues
Interest income from bank deposits 357 232
Interest income from trade deposits 38 369
Interest income from trade receivables — 2

395 603

Total revenues 439,996 376,171
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2 TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

(a) Primary reporting format - geographical segments

The Group’s principal activities are conducted mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC.

An analysis by geographical segment is as follows:

Hong Kong PRC Eliminations Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
Sales to external customers 74,295 87,884 365,306 287,684 — — 439,601 375,568
Inter-segment sales 6,416 7,073 21,092 11,197 (27,508) (18,270) — —

Total turnover 80,711 94,957 386,398 298,881 (27,508) (18,270) 439,601 375,568

Segment operating (loss)/profit (21,523) (68,648) 3,612 (93,628) (2,236) 4,258 (20,147) (158,018)

Finance costs (29) (1,568)
Share of profit of an associated

company 31,005 23,264

Profit/(loss) before taxation 10,829 (136,322)
Taxation (10,206) (7,599)

Profit/(loss) after taxation 623 (143,921)
Minority interests 1,903 146

Net profit/(loss) attributable
to shareholders 2,526 (143,775)

Assets
Segment assets 180,782 195,053 408,223 393,916 — — 589,005 588,969
Interest in an associated company 49,537 42,559

Total assets 638,542 631,528

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 17,894 23,929 178,237 165,802 — — 196,131 189,731

Other information
Capital expenditure 1,531 35 9,418 22,246 — — 10,949 22,281
Provision for doubtful debts

Trade receivables 908 — 2,186 1,517 — — 3,094 1,517
Amount due from an
associated company — 1,252 — — — — — 1,252
Deposits and other receivables — — — 1,591 — — — 1,591

Write-off of doubtful debt for
amount due from an associated
company — 401 — — — — — 401

Impairment of assets — — 795 14,065 — — 795 14,065
Depreciation of fixed assets 486 1,061 11,528 12,771 — — 12,014 13,832
Amortisation of intangible assets 31 67 59,914 66,940 — — 59,945 67,007
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2 TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION  - continued

(b) Secondary reporting format – business segments

The Group is organised into three main business segments, namely metro system advertising, bus
advertising and street furniture advertising.

The Group’s turnover, segment results, segment assets and capital expenditure for the year, analysed
by business segments are as follows:

Turnover Segment results Total assets Capital expenditure

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Metro system advertising 91,680 55,446 15,343 (9,500) 88,431 51,178 661 870
Bus advertising 337,587 315,763 (16,340) (116,098) 372,451 386,391 2,565 8,429
Other operations

including street furniture 10,334 4,359 (6,208) (10,914) 76,567 132,637 7,723 12,982

439,601 375,568 (7,205) (136,512) 537,449 570,206 10,949 22,281

Unallocated costs (12,942) (21,506)

Operating loss (20,147) (158,018)

Interest in an associated company 49,537 42,559
Unallocated assets 51,556 18,763

Total assets 638,542 631,528
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3 OPERATING LOSS

Operating loss is stated after charging the following:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Charging

Depreciation:
Owned fixed assets 12,010 13,832
Leased fixed asset 4 —

Loss on disposals of fixed assets 58 340
Impairment of assets:

Advertising display panel 795 —
Intangible assets — 14,065

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) 54,884 57,198
Auditors’ remuneration 1,630 1,029
Amortisation of intangible assets:

Advertising license rights (included in cost of sales) 59,527 66,712
Computer software (included in cost of sales) 231 239
Goodwill (included in administrative expenses) 187 56

Operating lease:
Office premises 8,631 10,911
Advertising spaces 142,030 217,929

Provision for doubtful debts:
Trade receivables 3,094 1,517
Amount due from an associated company — 1,252
Deposits and other receivables — 1,591

Provision for onerous contract — 13,760
Write-off of doubtful debts for amount due

from an associated company — 401
Net exchange losses 49 263

4 FINANCE COSTS

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts — 8
Interest on loans from financial institutions — 6
Interest on trade payables 29 —
Interest on amount due to an associated company — 73
Interest on long-term payables — 145
Interest on loan from substantial shareholders — 1,289
Interest on loan from a related company — 47

29 1,568
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5 TAXATION

Hong Kong profits tax at the rate of 17.5% (2003: 17.5%) has not been provided as the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong have no estimated assessable profit for the year (2003: Nil).

The joint ventures established in the PRC in which the Group has invested are generally subject to enterprise
income tax (“EIT”) on their taxable income at a combined national and local tax rate of 33% (2003: 33%).
Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates
of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated profit and loss account represents:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current taxation
PRC EIT 4 34

Share of taxation attributable to:
An associated company 10,202 7,565

Taxation charge 10,206 7,599

The taxation on the Group’s profit/(loss) before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the taxation rate of the country where the Company operates as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 10,829 (136,322)

Calculated at a taxation rate of 17.5% (2003: 17.5%) 1,895 (23,856)
Effect of different taxation rates in the PRC 4,557 (11,153)
Income not subject to taxation (2,651) (2,635)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 8,150 13,078
Tax losses not recognised 420 32,165
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (2,165) —

Taxation charge 10,206 7,599

6 NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The loss attributable to shareholders is dealt with in the accounts of the Company to the extent of
approximately HK$7,828,000 (2003: HK$143,550,000).

7 DIVIDEND

No dividends were paid or declared by the Company during the year (2003: Nil).
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8 PROFIT/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic profit/(loss) per share is based on the Group’s net profit/(loss) attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$2,526,000 (2003: loss of HK$143,775,000) and the weighted average of
1,803,488,985 ordinary shares in issue during the year (2003: weighted average of 1,085,387,435 ordinary
shares after the Open Offer). The diluted profit per share for the year ended 31st December 2004 is not
presented because the effect of the assumed conversion of all potential dilutive securities is anti-dilutive.

9 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 41,417 45,614
Unutilised annual leave 70 412
Termination benefits 1,786 828
Pension costs – defined contribution plan (Note 29) 2,868 1,338
Social security costs 4,951 5,991
Other staff benefits 3,792 3,015

54,884 57,198

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable to directors of the Company during the year are as
follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors’ fees
Executive directors — —
Non-executive directors 569 700
Independent non-executive directors 452 400

1,021 1,100
Consultancy fees

Non-executive directors 58 200

Other emoluments:
Basic salaries, housing allowances,

other allowances and benefits in kind 2,160 1,767
Discretionary bonuses 350 —
Pension scheme contributions

- for other offices 12 12
Compensation for loss of office

- as other offices paid by the Company — —

3,601 3,079
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10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS  - continued

(a) Directors’ emoluments - continued

Details of emoluments paid to individual directors during the year are as follows:
2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Mr. Chu Chung Hong, Francis
- Fee — —
- Salaries and other allowances 2,510 1,767
- Retirement benefit scheme contributions 12 12

2,522 1,779

Fees paid to non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors

Non-executive directors
Mr. Sun Qiang, Chang 100 100
Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff 100 100
Ms. Ho Ming Yee 200 200
Mr. Cheng Cheung Lun, Julian 100 81
Ms. Chan Man Ki, Summerine 114 200
Mr. Kam Wai Sum 13 200
Mr. Li Chun, Daniel — 19

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Liu Hong Ru — 88
Mr. Barry John Buttifant 200 112
Mr. Johannes Schöter 220 200
Mr. Duck Young Song 32 —

1,079 1,300

3,601 3,079

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the directors as an inducement to join the Group (2003:
Nil). None of the directors (2003: None) waived emoluments in respect of the financial year ended
31st December 2004.
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10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENT - continued

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for 2004 include one (2003:
One) director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining four (2003:  Four) individuals during the year are as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances and benefits in kind 4,344 4,945

Discretionary bonuses 980 558
Pension scheme contributions 89 100
Compensation for loss of office - contractual payment 89 —

Total 5,502 5,603

The emoluments (excluding directors) fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2004 2003

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 4 3
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 — 1

Total 4 4

During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest paid individuals (including directors and
employees) as an inducement to join the Group (2003: Nil).
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS – GROUP

Premium for
Advertising Website redemption

license Computer development of a profit
rights software Goodwill costs sharing right Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January 2004 233,452 196 3,251 — — 236,899
Transfer (Note 26b) 76,998 — — — — 76,998
Additions 9,825 162 — — — 9,987
Amortisation charge (Note 3) (59,527) (231) (187) — — (59,945)

At 31st December 2004 260,748 127 3,064 — — 263,939

At 31st December 2004
Cost 703,855 2,021 4,494 — 7,595 717,965
Accumulated amortisation (400,244) (1,894) (503) — (7,595) (410,236)
Accumulated impairment losses (42,863) — (927) — — (43,790)

Net book value 260,748 127 3,064 — — 263,939

At 31st December 2003
Cost 617,032 10,457 4,494 168 7,595 639,746
Accumulated amortisation (340,717) (4,386) (316) (58) (7,595) (353,072)
Accumulated impairment losses (42,863) (5,875) (927) (110) — (49,775)

Net book value 233,452 196 3,251 — — 236,899

Management have prepared an updated assessment of the value in use of the advertising license rights of
the Group’s outdoor advertising business. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows were
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the then current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risk specific to the assets.
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12 FIXED ASSETS – GROUP

Furniture,
fixtures Advertising

Leasehold and Production Motor display Construction-
improvements equipment equipment vehicles panels in-progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1st January 2004 21,570 22,053 5,666 4,221 60,917 7,125 121,552

Transfer* — (56) 56 — 14,791 (7,039) 7,752
Additions 288 800 1,422 — 687 — 3,197
Disposals (2,187) (3,522) (88) — — — (5,797)
Impairment loss (Note 3) — — — — (795) — (795)

At 31st December 2004 19,671 19,275 7,056 4,221 75,600 86 125,909

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1st January 2004 15,104 14,198 5,483 2,455 7,506 — 44,746
Transfer — (49) 49 — — — —
Charge for the year (Note 3) 2,405 2,783 310 528 5,988 — 12,014
Disposals (2,187) (3,417) (88) — — — (5,692)

At 31st December 2004 15,322 13,515 5,754 2,983 13,494 — 51,068

Net book value
At 31st December 2004 4,349 5,760 1,302 1,238 62,106 86 74,841

At 31st December 2003 6,466 7,855 183 1,766 53,411 7,125 76,806

* As disclosed in Note 26b, during the year, an amount of HK$7,752,000 was transferred from deposits for fixed
assets to fixed assets as the advertising display panels were received by the Group.

As at 31st December 2004, the net book value of fixed assets (furniture, fixtures and equipment) held under
finance leases was approximately HK$119,000 (2003: Nil).

13 INVESTMENT DEPOSIT PLACED WITH A JOINT VENTURE PARTNER – GROUP

The amount of approximately HK$14,145,000 (2003: HK$14,145,000) represents the remaining portion of
the refundable security deposit of RMB30,000,000 placed with a joint venture partner of Shanghai Metro
Top Result Advertising Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Metro”) under an agency agreement entered into by the Group
in November 2000. Under the agency agreement, the Group is entitled to place advertisements within
designated areas of certain metro stations in Shanghai for 15 years. The deposit is refundable to the Group
in three annual instalments of RMB10,000,000 (approximately HK$9,984,000) each commencing from the
sixth anniversary of the agency agreement through offsetting concession fees payable to the joint venture
partner. In 2003, as agreed with the joint venture partner, part of total RMB30,000,000 deposit amounting
to RMB15,000,000 (approximately HK$14,146,000) was temporarily used to offset a portion of the concession
fees payable (included in trade payables) at 31st December 2004. The Group will replenish this security
deposit of RMB15,000,000 in 2005.
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14 DEPOSITS FOR FIXED ASSETS – GROUP

As at 31st December 2004, the Group has paid approximately HK$5,792,000 (2003: HK$13,544,000) to
independent third parties to acquire certain advertising display panels.

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES – COMPANY

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 2,804 2,804
Amounts due from subsidiaries 776,099 765,278

778,903 768,082

Less: provision for impairment losses and doubtful debts (346,748) (346,748)

432,155 421,334

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31st December 2004:

Attributable
percentage of

Issued and issued capital/ Attributable
Place and date of fully paid registered capital percentage of
incorporation/ share capital/ held by distributable
registration registered Legal the Company profit to Principal

Name and operations capital structure Directly Indirectly the Group activities

% % %

Top Result Promotion Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Company with 100 — 100 Provide media
Limited (“Top Result”) 18th July 1991 limited liability advertising

services

Top Result Interactive The Cayman Islands US$124 Company with 100 — 100 Investment
Limited 16th December 1999 limited liability holding

i-Result Media Limited Hong Kong US$2 Company with — 100 100 Provide media
29th March 2000 limited liability advertising

services

Beijing Top Result The PRC RMB99,600,000 Cooperative — 99.5 80 Provide media
Public Transportation 22nd February 1994 joint venture advertising
Advertising Co., Ltd. services
(“Beijing Joint Venture”)
(Note (i))
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES – COMPANY - continued

Attributable
percentage of

Issued and issued capital/ Attributable
Place and date of fully paid registered capital percentage of
incorporation/ share capital/ held by distributable
registration registered Legal the Company profit to Principal

Name and operations capital structure Directly Indirectly the Group activities

% % %

Digital Photo Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Company with — 51 51 Provide large
6th July 1998 limited liability scale digital

colour printing
services

Top Photo Imaging The PRC US$400,000 Equity joint — 45.9 45.9 Provide large
Company Limited 2nd November 1999 venture scale digital

colour printing
services

China Kiosk Development Hong Kong HK$1,000 Company with — 80 80 Investment
Limited (“China Kiosk”) 20th June 2001 limited liability holding
(Note (ii))

Top Result Kiosk (Shanghai) The PRC USD2,000,000 Wholly-foreign- — 80 80 Develop and
Development Co. Ltd. 9th April 2002 owned enterprise manage media
(“Shanghai Kiosk”) assets
(Note (ii))

Shanghai Metro Top Result The PRC RMB16,000,000 Cooperative — 50 90 Provide media
Advertising Co. Ltd. 20th February 2002 joint venture advertising
(“Shanghai Metro”) services
(Note (iii))

Note:

(i) Beijing Joint Venture is a Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture established in the PRC for a period of 15 years up
to 22nd February 2009. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement and the supplemental agreement dated 10th
December 1993 and 24th May 1995, respectively, signed between Top Result and the Chinese joint venture
partner of Beijing Joint Venture, Top Result is entitled to 100% of the distributable profit of Beijing Joint Venture
for the first 4 years from the date of issuance of the business license. Thereafter, Top Result is entitled to 80% of
the distributable profit of Beijing Joint Venture.

Upon the expiry of the joint venture agreement, the net assets of Beijing Joint Venture will be distributed
according to the amount of capital contributed. Where there is any surplus of net assets after the return of the
capital contributed, the net assets will be distributed to the joint venture partners according to the profit sharing
ratio.



71

Notes to the Accounts annual report 2004

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES – COMPANY - continued

(ii) On 29th October 2001, the Group entered into an agreement with business partners to establish a Company in
Hong Kong, China Kiosk, in which the Group has 80% beneficial equity interest. Under the agreement, China
Kiosk established a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise, Shanghai Kiosk in Shanghai, the PRC for a period of 20
years up to 8th April 2022, to expand the street furniture (newspaper kiosk) business in the PRC. In July 2002,
China Kiosk transferred its 100% equity interest in Shanghai Kiosk to Top Result with 20% equity interest held
on behalf of the minority shareholder of China Kiosk. The Group was required to provide an investment of
US$12,500,000 (approximately HK$97,500,000). The Group will contribute to Shanghai Kiosk the deposits for
fixed assets of approximately HK$5,791,000 (Note 14), fixed assets of approximately HK$16,915,000 and intangible
assets of approximately HK$75,826,000 as the Group’s capital contribution of approximately HK$97,500,000
and as a working capital loan to be advanced by the Group of approximately HK$1,032,000. The minority
shareholder of China Kiosk will not be required to make any capital contribution for the initial investment of
US$12,500,000.

(iii) Shanghai Metro is a sino-foreign cooperative joint venture established in the PRC for a period of 15 years up to
19th February 2017. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement dated 5th September 2000, the Group contributed
RMB14,800,000 (approximately HK$13,956,000), of which RMB8,000,000 (approximately HK$7,544,000)
represents 50% of the registered capital to Shanghai Metro while the remaining RMB6,800,000 (approximately
HK$6,412,000) represents a working capital loan advanced by the Group. The Chinese joint venture partner
contributed the remaining portion of the registered capital by way of contributing advertising display panels
amounting to RMB8,000,000 (approximately HK$7,544,000). The Group is entitled to 90% of the distributable
profit of Shanghai Metro but is required to bear 50% of the operating losses of Shanghai Metro.

Upon the expiry of the joint venture agreement, the Chinese joint venture partner will be entitled to all fixed
assets of Shanghai Metro and the Group will be entitled to 50% of the remaining net assets.

16 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY AND AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN
ASSOCIATED COMPANY – GROUP

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment in an associated company
Share of net assets 36,749 28,503
Goodwill on acquisition of an associated company

Cost 20,280 20,280
Accumulated amortisation (7,492) (6,224)

49,537 42,559

Amount due from an associated company 1,252 7,271
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (1,252) (1,252)

— 6,019
Amount due to an associated company (42,512) (33,144)

(42,512) (27,125)

The amount due from/(to) an associated company is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed
terms of repayment.
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16 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY AND AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN
ASSOCIATED COMPANY – GROUP - continued

The following are the details of the associated company at 31st December 2004:

Attributable
percentage of

issued Attributable
Place and date of Issued and capital/registered percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid capital held by distributable
registration and share capital/ the Company profit to the Principal

Name operation registered capital Legal structure indirectly Group activities
% %

Beijing Top Result Metro The PRC RMB35,000,000 Cooperative 100 38 Provide media
Advertising Co., Ltd. 28th April 1997 joint venture advertising
(“BJ Metro”) services

BJ Metro was formed under a cooperative joint venture agreement and a supplemental agreement dated
8th November 1996 and 6th April 1999, respectively. BJ Metro obtained its business license on 11th June
1997 with a term of 18 years. The Group has contributed all the registered share capital of BJ Metro of
RMB35,000,000 (approximately HK$32,710,000).

In addition, the Group has undertaken to guarantee that the Chinese joint venture partner’s share of BJ
Metro’s distributable profit will not be lower than RMB13,000,000 (approximately HK$12,150,000) each
year, effective from 1st January 2000, for the remaining tenure of the joint venture. The Group’s share of
distributable profit of BJ Metro for the year ended 31st December 2004 amounted to approximately
HK$22,071,000 (2003: HK$16,966,000).

The net assets of BJ Metro will be distributed according to the profit sharing ratio upon the expiry of the
joint venture agreement. Accordingly, 62% of the capital contributed to BJ Metro by the Group is recorded
as goodwill and is amortised over the joint venture period. The amortisation expense for the year ended
31st December 2004 amounted to approximately HK1,268,000 (2003: HK$1,268,000) and was included in
the share of profit of an associated company in the consolidated profit and loss account.

The summary of financial information of BJ Metro based on the adjusted accounts prepared under the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong for the year is as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance Sheet
Current assets 140,228 114,136
Non-current assets 17,191 19,295
Current liabilities 63,012 60,523

Profit and loss account
Turnover 128,724 101,696
Profit before taxation 84,928 64,557
Profit after taxation 58,080 44,648
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17 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is an amount of approximately HK$317,000 (2003:
Nil) receivable from one of the Group’s officers. This amount is non-interest bearing and is repayable within
one year. There is no other receivable or payable with officers of the Group that existed during the year or
at 31st December 2004.

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES – GROUP

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 72,292 65,820
Less: provision for doubtful debts (10,870) (9,358)

61,422 56,462

At 31st December 2004, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 17,006 18,482
1 - 30 days 14,162 9,766
31 - 60 days 10,635 8,856
61 - 90 days 4,614 5,161
91 - 120 days 6,784 4,384
Over 120 days 19,091 19,171

72,292 65,820

The normal credit period granted by the Group ranges from 30 days to 90 days from the date of invoice.

19 BANK BALANCES AND CASH – GROUP

At 31st December 2004, bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to approximately HK$83,601,000 (2003: HK$30,368,000). RMB is not freely convertible into foreign
currencies. Subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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20 TRADE PAYABLES – GROUP

At 31st December 2004, the ageing analysis of trade payables based on due date was as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current 4,564 16,089
0 - 30 days 16,413 8,908
31 - 60 days 1,762 5,015
61 - 90 days 1,216 1,921
91 - 120 days 12,758 710
Over 120 days 18,556 31,042

55,269 63,685

21 PROVISIONS, ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Provisions, accrued liabilities and other payables
Others 36,034 34,584
Provision for onerous contract — 13,760

36,034 48,344

At 31st December 2003, the directors considered an advertising contract to which the Group in Hong
Kong was a party to had become onerous.  Accordingly, a provision for onerous contract was made, based
on the excess of the least net loss of terminating this contract over the expected economic benefits to be
derived therefrom. This provision for onerous contract was fully utilised in 2004.
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22 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

No. of shares Amount

HK$’000

At 1st January 2004 and 31st December 2004 5,000,000,000 500,000

At 1st January 2003 and 31st December 2003 5,000,000,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of

HK $0.10 each

No. of shares Amount

HK$’000

At 1st January 2003 601,162,995 60,116
Issue of ordinary shares upon the Open Offer 1,202,325,990 120,233

As at 31st December 2003 1,803,488,985 180,349

At 1st January 2004 and 31st December 2004 1,803,488,985 180,349

In August 2003, following the prospectus dated 10th July 2003, 1,202,325,990 shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued to the public by way of the Open Offer on the basis of two Open Offer shares for every one share
held (the “Open Offer”) for a total consideration of approximately HK$120,233,000 before related issuing
expenses. The issuing expenses of approximately HK$3,703,000 were debited to the share premium account
and 1,202,325,990 ordinary shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
August 2003.
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23 SHARE OPTIONS

Pre-IPO Share Options Plans

Pursuant to an Executive Share Option Plan (“Plan 1”) approved by the shareholders of the Company on
7th April 1995 and amended and restated on 9th June 2001, the board of directors may at its discretion
within five years after 1st July 1997, invite employees, including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries,
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under Plan 1 may not exceed 17,500,000(1) ordinary shares in aggregate. The
exercise price of the option post the Capitalisation Issue is US$0.038095(1) per share.

On 9th June 2001, the shareholders of the Company rectified and approved another Executive Share Option
Plan (“Plan 2”). Pursuant to Plan 2, the board of directors may at its discretion within three years after 1st
April 2000, invite employees, including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to take up their
options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under Plan 2 may not exceed 21,000,000(1) ordinary shares in aggregate. The exercise
price of the option post the Capitalisation Issue is US$0.171429(1) per share.

On 9th June 2001, the shareholders of the Company approved another Executive Share Option Plan (“Plan
3”). Pursuant to Plan 3, the board of directors granted 28,554,750(1) share options to senior executives to
replace all outstanding warrants then held by them. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under Plan 3 may not exceed 28,554,750(1) ordinary shares in aggregate. The exercise
price of the option post the Capitalisation Issue is US$0.206841(1) per share.

All the outstanding options, except for those under Plan 3, may be exercised at any time during the period
commencing one year after the date of grant of the options and ending 10 years after the date of the
options with the following schedule:

Portion of shares comprised in options
Period since date of grant which become exercisable

Date of grant - first anniversary Zero

The date after the first anniversary - Up to one-third
second anniversary

The date after the second anniversary - Up to two-third (less the portion of shares which arose
third anniversary upon the exercise of options between the first anniversary

and the second anniversary)

The date after the third anniversary and All shares in respect of which the option has not been
thereafter previously exercised

The outstanding options under Plan 3 is fully vested upon its grant and may be exercised at any time during
the period commencing on the date upon which the offer of the option is accepted and ending 10 years
after the date of the options.

Save as disclosed above, no share options have been granted or agreed to be granted by the Company and
no further options will be offered or granted by the Company under Plan 1, Plan 2 and Plan 3.
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23 SHARE OPTIONS - continued

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 8th January 2002 the Company conditionally adopted a further share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for a period of ten years from the date on which the Share Option Scheme was adopted. The
Share Option Scheme became unconditional upon the Listing.

The principal purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the significant contributions of the full-
time employees, executive directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors),
any consultants or advisors of or to any members of the Group to the growth of the Group by rewarding
them with opportunities to obtain ownership interests in the Company and to further motivate and give
incentives to these persons to continue to contribute to the Group’s long term success.

The subscription price will be determined by the Company’s board of directors and will be the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the shares, (ii) the quoted closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of
the options, which must be a trade day, and (iii) the average of the quoted closing prices of the Company’s
shares on the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options.

The Share Options Scheme shall vest in respect of one third of the total number of shares to which it
relates upon each anniversary of the respective date upon which the offer of the option is made until fully
vested and expiring on not less than three years nor more than ten years from the date of offer. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

A summary of the movement of share options granted to employees (including directors) under Plan 1, Plan
2, Plan 3 and Share Option Scheme during the year is as follows:

Pre-IPO Share Options Pre-IPO Share Option
Plans at exercise price of Scheme at exercise price of

US$0.038095(1) US$0.171429(1) US$0.206841(1) HK$0.89(1) HK$0.119 HK$0.115

At 1st January 2004 12,640,880(1) 15,120,000(1) 28,554,750(1) 3,734,000(1) 17,500,000 —
Granted during the year — — — — — 10,000,000
Lapsed during the year* (5,425,000)(1) (6,335,000)(1) — (844,000)(1) (2,500,000) —

At 31st December 2004 7,215,880(1) 8,785,000(1) 28,554,750(1) 2,890,000(1) 15,000,000 10,000,000

* During the year, a director who held 5,425,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan at
exercise price of US$0.038095(1) and the 6,125,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan at
exercise price of US$0.171429(1) had resigned and hence, these options had lapsed.

During the year, an employee holding 210,000(1) unvested share options under Pre-IPO Share Options Plan at
exercise price of US$0.171429(1) had resigned and hence, these options had lapsed. Seven employees holding
3,344,000(1) unvested share options under Post-IPO Share Option Scheme had resigned and hence, these options
had lapsed.

Note:

1) Pending adjustments on the relevant Share Options are to be made in accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Options Plans and Share Option Scheme as a result of the Open Offer stated in the Company’s prospectus
dated 10th July 2003.
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24 RESERVES

Capital
Share Translation Capital Accumulated redemption

premium reserve reserve losses reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (iii)) (Note (i)

and (iii))

Group
At 1st January 2003 635,510 1,844 883 (233,376) 390 405,251
Write-off of share issuance

expenses related to
the Open Offer
(Note 22) (3,703) — — — — (3,703)

Exchange difference arising
from the translation of
accounts of foreign
subsidiaries — 225 — — — 225

Loss for the year — — — (143,775) — (143,775)

At 31st December 2003 631,807 2,069 883 (377,151) 390 257,998

At 1st January 2004 631,807 2,069 883 (377,151) 390 257,998
Exchange difference

arising from the
translation of
accounts of foreign
subsidiaries — (9) — — — (9)

Profit for the year — — — 2,526 — 2,526

At 31st December 2004 631,807 2,060 883 (374,625) 390 260,515

The Company and
subsidiaries 631,807 2,069 883 (386,837) 390 248,312

Associated company — — — 9,686 — 9,686

At 31st December 2003 631,807 2,069 883 (377,151) 390 257,998

The Company and
subsidiaries 631,807 2,060 883 (391,289) 390 243,851

Associated company — — — 16,664 — 16,664

At 31st December 2004 631,807 2,060 883 (374,625) 390 260,515



79

Notes to the Accounts annual report 2004

24 RESERVES - continued

Capital
Share Translation Capital Accumulated redemption

premium reserve reserve losses reserve Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (iii)) (Note (i)

and (iii))

Company
At 1st January 2003 635,510 — 2,687 (233,336) 390 405,251
Write-off of share issuance

expenses related to
the Open Offer (Note 22) (3,703) — — — — (3,703)

Loss for the year — — — (143,550) — (143,550)

At 31st December 2003 631,807 — 2,687 (376,886) 390 257,998

At 1st January 2004 631,807 — 2,687 (376,886) 390 257,998
Loss for the year — — — (7,828) — (7,828)

At 31st December 2004 631,807 — 2,687 (384,714) 390 250,170

(i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in February 1995, and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Capital reserve of the Company represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the same group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

(ii) In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC
are required to transfer a certain percentage of their profit after taxation, if any, to certain statutory
reserves which comprise the statutory reserve and the enterprise expansion fund. The percentage of
the transfer is determined by statute or the board of directors of the subsidiaries. During the year
ended 31st December 2004, no transfer was made by the subsidiaries (2003: Nil).

(iii) Under the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium account and the capital reserve of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. At 31st December 2004, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders.
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25 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses for
the operation in Hong Kong and PRC of approximately HK$189,557,000 and HK$241,669,000 (2003:
HK$156,717,000 and HK$246,932,000), respectively, which are subject to the agreement by relevant tax
authorities. The tax loss generated from Hong Kong operations has no expiry date while the tax losses from
PRC operations will expire in the period of 2005 to 2009. There were no other significant unprovided
deferred tax liabilities at 31st December 2004.

26 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before taxation 10,829 (136,322)
Provision for doubtful debts

Trade receivables 3,094 1,517
Amount due from an associated company — 1,252
Deposits and other receivables — 1,591

Provision for onerous contract — 13,760
Write-off of doubtful debts for amount due from

an associated company — 401
Depreciation 12,014 13,832
Loss on disposals of fixed assets 58 340
Impairment loss on fixed assets 795 —
Impairment loss on intangible assets — 14,065
Amortisation of intangible assets 59,945 67,007
Amortisation of goodwill on acquisition of

an associated company 1,268 1,268
Share of profit of an associated company (32,273) (24,532)
Interest expense 29 1,568

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 55,759 (44,253)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables (21,561) 15,300
Decrease/(increase) in other non-current assets 489 (17)
Decrease in long-term payables (5,696) (6,238)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 3,060 (1,991)
Increase in trade receivables (8,054) (4,560)
Decrease in trade payables, provisions,

accrued liabilities and other payables (18,891) (38,176)
Increase in deferred income 17,676 10,433
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to

a joint venture partner (406) 142
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related companies 78 (78)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 241 —
Decrease in restricted cash 1,699 84
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to an associated company 15,387 (7,462)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations 39,781 (76,816)
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26 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT - continued

(b) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, deposits for fixed assets amounting to HK$7,752,000 were transferred to fixed assets
as the advertising display panels were received during the year.

Deposits for intangible assets amounting to HK$76,998,000 were transferred to intangible assets as
the rights to place advertisements on specially designed newspaper kiosks were obtained.

(c) Analysis of balance of cash and cash equivalents

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank balance and cash 92,281 55,281
Less: Non-cash and cash equivalents — (1,699)

92,281 53,582

27 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments for fixed assets – Group

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for 2,111 2,111

(b) Capital commitments for investment – Group

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for 29,524 1,233
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27 COMMITMENTS - continued

(c) Commitments under operating leases

(i) At 31st December 2004, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases as follows:

Land and buildings Others

2004 2003 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 6,941 8,418 — 230
Later than one year and

not later than five years 9,531 6,570 — —
Later than five years — 111 — —

16,472 15,099 — 230

(ii) The Group has entered into certain media rental contracts under which the Group has committed
to pay to various media owners concession fees calculated based on various arrangements as
stipulated in the respective contracts. At 31st December 2004, the Group had future aggregate
minimum concession fee payments under the aforementioned contracts as follows:

2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Not later than one year 92,414 139,902
Later than one year and not later than five years 351,817 330,207
Later than five years 632,890 698,026

1,077,121 1,168,135

The above operating commitments only include those for basic concession fees and do not
include any additional fees payable. Additional concession fees would be determined based on the
actual media rental revenue generated.

(iii) The Group has undertaken to guarantee that the Chinese joint venture partner’s share of BJ
Metro’s distributable profit will not be lower than RMB13,000,000 (approximately HK$12,150,000)
each year effective from 1st January 2000 for the remaining tenure of the joint venture for each
year over the remaining joint venture period until 2015 (Note 16).
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28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group undertook the following significant related party transactions, which were
carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business:

Note 2004 2003

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income

Equipment leasing income from
Pro Photo Processing Limited (“PP”) (i) 2 14

Sales of materials to PP (i) 141 149
Agency commission income for

marketing services from BJ Metro (ii) 5,170 3,901

Costs and expenses

Sub-contracting fees charged by PP (i) 507 398
Administrative expenses charged by PP (i) 329 387
Media rental costs to BJ Metro (ii) 1,324 1,600
Agency commission expenses charged by BJ Metro (ii) 604 302

(i) PP is a minority shareholder of Digital Photo Limited. Income from leasing of equipment and sales of materials
are determined based on a cost recovery basis. Sub-contracting fees charged by PP were determined based on
terms as agreed between the two parties. Administrative expenses charged by PP were determined based on
cost recovery.

(ii) BJ Metro is an associated company of the Group. Agency commission income and expenses is determined based
on the agreement executed between the two parties. The commission is based on 12.5% of the sales contract
amounts. Media rental costs charged by BJ Metro is determined based on negotiations between the two parties
in the ordinary course of business.

Save as disclosed in other notes to the accounts, balances with the related companies are unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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29 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION

The Group has participated in the defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) in
Hong Kong since 1st December 2000, in which all the employees are entitled to join this scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and are managed by independent professional
fund managers. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group makes monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme based
on 5% of the employees’ basic salaries with the maximum amount of contribution by each of the Group and
the employees limited to HK$12,000 per annum per person. Contributions in excess of the 5% or HK$1,000
per month limit are made to the MPF Scheme as voluntary contribution by the Group and its Hong Kong
employees so as to maintain the previous level of contributions before the MPF Scheme was established.
The pension cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss account represents contributions paid or
payable by the Group at the aforesaid rates. Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of
their contributions, the amount of forfeited voluntary contributions is used to reduce the future voluntary
contributions payable by the Group. During the year, the Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme were
approximately HK$364,000 (2003: HK$44,000) after deduction of forfeited voluntary contributions of
approximately HK$225,000 (2003: HK$712,000).

All subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC provide government-sponsored defined contribution retirement
schemes for its full-time employees. The subsidiaries and the employees are required to contribute 19% and
7% respectively of the employees’ average salary to the schemes, and the subsidiaries have no further
obligation for actual pension payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The
government sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees. During the year, the PRC subsidiaries contributed approximately HK$2,503,000 (2003:
HK$1,294,000).

30 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

The suspension of trading in the shares

At the request of the Company trading in the shares on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was suspended on 17th March 2005 pending a further announcement in
relation to certain price sensitive information.  A further announcement will be made as soon as possible
together with a request for the resumption of trading in the shares of the Company.

31 APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

The accounts were approved by the board of directors on 21st March 2005.
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RESULTS

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 418,781 473,882 370,672 375,568 439,601

Net profit/(loss) attributable to
shareholders 12,714 3,461 (252,783) (143,775) 2,526

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 633,166 783,707 695,795 631,528 638,542
Total liabilities (307,019) (452,312) (229,952) (189,731) (196,131)

326,147 331,395 465,843 441,797 442,411

Notes:

1. The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 27th February 1995 and became the holding company of
the companies now comprising the Group, as a result of the reorganisation took place in June 2001 regarding the
acquisition of the entire share capital of Top Result Interactive Group through a share exchange.

2. The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the two years ended 31st December 2003 and 2004 have been
extracted from the audited consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated balance sheet as set out on the
accounts.

3. The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2002 and 2001 have been extracted
from the Company’s 2002 Annual Report dated 27th March 2003.

4. The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2000 have been extracted from the
Company’s 2001 Annual Report dated 26th March 2002.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of MediaNation Inc. (the “Company”) will be
held at Room 6703, Two International Finance Centre, 8 Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong SAR on Monday, 9th
May 2005, at 2:00 p.m. for the following purposes:

1. To consider, approve and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December 2004, the report of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) for the year ended 31st
December 2004 and the report of the auditors of the Company (the “Auditors”) for the year ended 31st
December 2004;

2. To re-elect retiring Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff, Mr. Johannes Schöter and Mr. Duck
Young Song for a further and additional term of three years from the date of the Annual General Meeting,
and to authorise the Board of Directors to determine the Directors’ fees;

3. To re-appoint the Auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to determine their remuneration;

4. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without modifications, the following resolution
upon the terms set out below which will be proposed as an ordinary resolution (Note 3):

“4. MANDATE TO ALLOT SHARES

THAT:-

(a) subject to paragraph (c) below, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the exercise by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as defined
below) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with unissued ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) and to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such power be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant Period to make
or grant offers, agreements and options which might require the exercise of such powers after the end
of the Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted, issued or dealt with or agreed conditionally or
unconditionally to be allotted, issued or dealt with (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) by
the Directors pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above, otherwise than pursuant to:-

(i) a Rights Issue (as defined below); or

(ii) the exercise of the subscription rights under any option scheme of the Company or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for the grant or issue to participants of such scheme or
arrangement or rights to acquire Shares; or

(iii) any issue of Shares upon the exercise of the subscription rights attaching to any warrants or
convertible notes of the Company or any securities which are convertible into Shares; or

(iv) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for allotment of Shares in lieu of the whole
or part of a dividend on Shares in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company

shall not exceed the aggregate of:-
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(A) 20 percent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at the
date of passing of this resolution; and

(B) an amount representing the aggregate nominal value of Shares repurchased by the Company
pursuant to the mandate referred to in ordinary resolution no. 5 set out in the Notice of which
this resolution forms part, provided that such value shall not exceed 10 percent of the aggregate
nominal value of the share capital of the Company in issue on the date of the passing of the
ordinary resolution no. 5 set out in the Notice of which this resolution forms part

and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(d) for the purposes of this resolution:-

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date on which this resolution is passed until
whichever is the earliest of:-

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Articles of Association of the Company or the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands or any other applicable law of the Cayman Islands to be held; and

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this resolution is revoked or varied by an ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general meeting; and

“Rights Issue” means an offer of Shares open for a period fixed by the Directors to
holders of Shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on a
fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of such Shares (subject to such
exclusion or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in
relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under
the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange
in any territory applicable to the Company).”

5. As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without modifications, the following
resolution upon the terms set out below which will be proposed as an ordinary resolution (Note 4):

“5. MANDATE TO REPURCHASE SHARES

THAT:-

(a) subject to paragraph (b) below and subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws and
the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”), the
exercise by the directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as
defined below) of all the powers of the Company to repurchase ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of the Shares which the Company is authorised to repurchase
pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above shall not exceed 10 percent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at the date of the passing of
this resolution and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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(c) for the purposes of this resolution:-

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date on which this resolution is passed
until whichever is the earliest of:-

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by the Articles of Association of the Company or the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands or any other applicable law of the Cayman Islands to be
held; and

(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this resolution is revoked or varied by an
ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general meeting. “

By Order of the Board
Cheng Ka Chung
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 30th March 2005

Head office and principal place of business:
Room 3507, 35th Floor
The Center
99 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong SAR

Registered office:
P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
George Town
Grand Cayman
Cayman Islands

Notes:

1. Each of the shareholders of the Company (or his proxy) shall exercise his voting rights according to the number of
Shares with voting rights represented by him and shall be entitled to one vote for each Share held.

2. Every shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint
one or more proxies to attend and, on a poll, vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A
proxy form is attached. To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which
it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power or authority, must be deposited at the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong SAR at Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Rooms
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong SAR not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting. Completion and delivery of the form of proxy will not
preclude a shareholder from attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting in person if the shareholder so
desires.
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3. In relation to the proposed Resolution No. 4 above, approval is being sought from the shareholders of the Company
for the grant to the Directors of a general mandate to authorise the allotment and issue of shares pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The Directors have no immediate plans to issue any new securities of the Company
pursuant to the said general mandate other than shares which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of any options
granted under the share option scheme of the Company or any scrip dividend scheme.

4. A circular appended with an explanatory statement containing further details regarding the proposed Resolution No.
5 above of the notice of this Annual General Meeting as required by the GEM Listing Rules will be dispatched to the
shareholders of the Company together with the 2004 annual report.

5. If two or more persons are joint holders of a share of the Company, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote,
whether in person or by proxy, will be accepted to the exclusion of the other joint holder(s). For this purpose,
seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members of the Company in
respect of the joint holding.

6. In relation to the proposed Resolution No. 2 above, the details of the directors proposed to be re-elected, namely Mr.
Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff, Mr. Johannes Schöter and Mr. Duck Young Song are as below:

Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff

Mr. Cheung Leung Hong, Cliff, aged 43, became a non-executive director of the Company in March 1998. He is the
managing director and chief investment officer of PAMA Group and a member of its investment committee.
PAMA Group, is one of the largest and longest established private equity firms in Asia. Since joining PAMA in 1986
at its inception, Mr. Cheung has held various investment and post investment responsibilities with PAMA in Asia
and with the corporate finance and leverage buyout groups of The Prudential Insurance Company of America in
the United States. Prior to joining PAMA, Mr. Cheung worked with the Hong Kong branch of Hamburgische
Landesbank and the investment team of American International Assurance Co., Ltd. in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung
holds the Chartered Financial Analyst designation and is a graduate of the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheung has no service contract with the Company and is not appointed for specific terms. A fixed annual fee
will be paid to Mr. Cheung as remuneration for his services rendered as a non-executive director of the Company,
which is determined based on the estimated time to be spent by him on the Company’s matter.

SMI Investors (PAPE II) Limited, one of the substantial shareholders of the Company, belongs to PAMA Group in
which Mr. Cheung is its managing director. In addition, a director of PAMA Group, namely Ms. Ho Ming Yee, is a
non-executive director and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Save as the above, Mr. Cheung
does not have any relationship with any other directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Cheung does not have any interests in shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance. Mr. Cheung is currently a director of Meritz Securities
Company Limited and was previously a director of KorAm Bank. Save as disclosed herein, there are no other
matters that need to be brought to the attention of the Company’s shareholders.
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Mr. Johannes Schöter

Mr. Johannes Schöter, aged 49, became an independent non-executive director of the Company in July 2002. He
is also the managing partner of Victoria Capital Limited in Hong Kong. Victoria Capital is a corporate finance
advisory firm with main activities in merger and acquisition and fundraising. Mr. Schöter joined Deutsche Bank
AG (“DB”) in 1979 after his graduation from university and became the chief representative of DB in Beijing in
1983 till 1988. Mr. Schöter returned to Germany afterwards and joined the Duisburg branch of DB as general
manager. In 1991 Mr. Schöter was appointed as the general manager of Tokyo branch of DB. Mr. Schöter became
the general manager of DB for China, Hong Kong and Macau in 1995 before he founded Victoria Capital in 1998
together with a partner. Mr. Schöter holds a master degree in business administration from the Augsburg University
in 1978.

Mr. Schöter has no service contract with the Company and is not appointed for specific terms. A fixed annual fee
will be paid to Mr. Schöter as remuneration for his services rendered as an independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee of the Company, which is determined based on the estimated time to be
spent by him on the Company’s matter.

Mr. Schöter does not have any relationships with any directors, senior management, management shareholders,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Schöter holds 10,152,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company and 1,000,000 share options with exercise price HK$0.115 pursuant to
the Company’s share option scheme approved on 8th January 2002. Mr. Schöter did not hold any directorships in
listed public companies in the last three years. Save as disclosed herein, there are no other matters that need to
be brought to the attention of the Company’s shareholders.

Mr. Duck Young Song

Mr. Duck Young Song, aged 61, became an independent non-executive director of the Company in September
2004. He is currently the chairman and chief executive officer of Diageo Korea Co., Ltd. and a partner of Gravitas
Partnership, Ltd., a business consulting group specializing in Asian markets. Mr. Song is an experienced international
executive with 20 years of multi-market operational experience in Asia and 13 years in advertising and marketing
communication in the United States combined. For the past five years, Mr. Song was the chief executive officer
and president of Philip Morris Asia, responsible for restructuring and expanding the firm’s business for the entire
region except Japan. Prior to that, he was the chief executive officer of Philip Morris Korea for ten years where
he successfully established the firm’s business operation from top to bottom. Before relocating to Asia, Mr. Song
spent 13 years in the advertising and marketing communication industry in the United States combined, with the
last position as the president of Song Communications. He embarked on his career as an account executive with
Ogilvy & Mather, Inc. in the United States. Mr. Song graduated from the University of Illinois in 1968 with a
bachelor of science degree in industrial management and received a master of business administration degree in
marketing from Wharton Graduate Business School, University of Pennsylvania in 1969.

Mr. Song has no service contract with the Company and is not appointed for specific terms. A fixed annual fee will
be paid to Mr. Song as remuneration for his services rendered as an independent non-executive director of the
Company, which is determined based on the estimated time to be spent by him on the Company’s matter.

Mr. Song does not have any relationships with any directors, senior management, management shareholders,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company. In addition, Mr. Song does not have any
interests in shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance. Mr.
Song did not hold any directorships in listed public companies in the last three years. Save as disclosed herein,
there are no other matters that need to be brought to the attention of the Company’s shareholders.


